IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

CASE No. 2010-CA-00446

GRAND LEGACY, LLP and GRAND LEGACY OF MISSISSIPPI, L.P.

APPELLANTS

vs.

CHARLES M. GANT, Individually; STEPHEN L. SHIVERS, SR., Individually; and GANT & SHIVERS, LLC

APPELLEES

BRIEF OF THE APPELLANT

Appealed from the Circuit Court of Harrison County, Mississippi

ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

David C. Dunbar (MSI)
G. Clark Monroe II (MSP)
DUNBARMONROE, P.A.
270 Trace Colony Park, Suite A
Ridgeland, MS 39157
Office: (601) 898-2073
Facsimile: (601) 898-2074

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

CASE No. 2010-TS-00446

GRAND LEGACY, LLP and GRAND LEGACY OF MISSISSIPPI, L.P.

APPELLANTS

vs.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

The following issues are before this Court:

- I. Whether the trial court erred by granting summary judgment for the Appellees and finding that no genuine issues of material fact exist as to the fiduciary duties that the Appellees owed to the Appellants as partners, which are not excused by obscure statements in the November 12th Agreement and the Acknowledgement Agreement.
- II. Whether the trial court erred by granting summary judgment for the Appellees because a question of fraud is involved and the Mississippi Supreme Court has made it clear that questions of fraud are inappropriate for disposition at the summary judgment stage.
- III. Whether the trial court erred in granting Shivers' Separate Motion for Summary Judgment because Shivers can be held individually liable in this case.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Nature of the Case, Course of Proceedings, and Disposition in the Court Below

Grand Legacy, LLP, individually and as Managing General Partner of Grand Legacy of Mississippi, L.P., and Grand Legacy of Mississippi, L.P. filed their Complaint against Charles M. Gant, Stephen L. Shivers, Sr., Gant & Shivers, LLC, Robert T. Schwartz, Jay K. Jordan, Schwartz, Orgler, & Jordan, PLLC, and SOJ Properties, LLC on or about April 11, 2008, for fraud, fraud in the inducement, breach of fiduciary duties, negligent misrepresentation, and gross negligence, seeking disgorgement and punitive damages. An Amended Complaint was filed on or about September 19, 2008, which added certain pertinent facts that had been discovered, as well as a count for breach of the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing and another count that is no longer relevant. [R. at 37].

Robert T. Schwartz, Jay K. Jordan, Schwartz, Orgler, & Jordan, PLLC, and SOJ Properties, LLC (the "Attorney Defendants") reached a settlement with Grand Legacy, LLP and Grand Legacy of Mississippi, L.P. and the Attorney Defendants were dismissed pursuant to separate agreed orders of final judgment and dismissal entered on or about December 30, 2009.

Charles M. Gant, Stephen L. Shivers, Sr., and Gant & Shivers, LLC filed a Motion for Summary Judgment on or about November 16, 2009. [R. at 168]. Stephen L. Shivers, Sr. also filed a Separate Motion for Summary Judgment on the same day. [R. at 264]. Grand Legacy, LLP and Grand Legacy of Mississippi, L.P. responded and a hearing occurred on January 20, 2010. [R. at 3069]. On February 19, 2010, Judge Lawrence P. Bourgeois entered an Order granting the Motion for Summary Judgment of Charles M. Gant, Stephen L. Shivers, Sr., and Gant & Shivers, LLC and the Separate Motion for Summary Judgment of Stephen L. Shivers, Sr. [R. at 3069; R.E. at 35]. This Order is the subjects of this appeal.

B. Statement of the Facts

Stephen L. Shivers, Sr. ("Shivers") and Charles M. Gant ("Gant") have known each other for several years and have formed several business entities together. [R. at 2010-11]. Shivers and Gant are 50/50 owners in all of their entities. [R. at 1053]. Shivers and Gant formed Gant & Shivers, LLC in January of 2003 for the purpose of building homes and buying property. [R. at 2011, 2847].

Around October of 2004, real estate agent Sherry Owen contacted Gant to see if he and Shivers were interested in purchasing the certain property known as the Bernard Bayou Property (the "Property") in Gulfport, Mississippi, which consisted of approximately 105 acres being offered at approximately Ten Million Dollars (\$10,000,000.00). [R. at 1065-67]. Shortly after learning about the Bernard Bayou Property in the Fall of 2004, Gant approached J. Scott Sanders ("Sanders"), the managing member of Grand Legacy, LLP ("Grand Legacy"), about purchasing the Property together with the intent to enter into a business venture for the purchase, sale, and development of the Property. [R. at 480, 1094, 2536]. Gant had been introduced to Sanders by their mutual friend and attorney, Jay Jordan ("Jordan") in the summer of 2004. [R. at 1068]. Jordan had facilitated at least one other business deal between Gant and Sanders prior to the Fall of 2004. [R. at 1081-82].

Gant took Sanders and Dr. Duane Pankratz ("Pankratz"), Sanders' business partner, out on his boat to see the Bernard Bayou Property. [R. at 484, 2578]. At that time, Gant verbally represented to Sanders that Gant had the property "locked up" with the original seller, Orange Grove Utilities, Inc. ("Orange Grove"), and that his purchase price was around Fifteen Million Dollars (\$15,000,000.00). [R. at 480, 1094-95, 2578, 2590]. Gant suggested to Sanders that if Sanders, through his company, Grand Legacy, would provide the money necessary to obtain financing, that Gant would purchase the property and in turn sell it for the same price to a

successor entity, the to-be-formed Grand Legacy of Mississippi, L.P. ("GLMS"), for the purpose of developing the property together. [R. at 2537]. The entire conversation regarding the purchase began as a proposed partnership among the parties, not an arms-length sale. Ultimately, the parties agreed that Gant and Grand Legacy would be partners in GLMS.

Gant assured Sanders that although he could not actually show Sanders the contract, due to confidentiality provision, Gant would be buying the property for approximately \$15 million and would *not* make a profit on his sale of the property to GLMS, but added that he desired, in return for his work, an equity interest in the entity that would own the property. [R. at 480, 482, 2537]. Sanders agreed that Gant would get a thirty percent (30%) interest in the entity that would be formed to purchase and develop the Bernard Bayou Property. [R. at 480, 482, 1071-72, 1102, 2537].

Subsequently, Sanders told his attorney, Jordan of Schwartz, Orgler & Jordan, PLLC ("SOJ"), that Sanders was only interested in the Bernard Bayou Property if Sanders' company would be purchasing the property for the same net price as Gant was purchasing it. [R. at 487, 519, 2538]. Jordan assured Sanders that the contracts would be identical. [R. at 487, 519, 2538]. During that time, Jordan requested and Grand Legacy agreed that SOJ would receive a ten percent (10%) interest in the to-be-formed entity as a fee for bringing the parties together. [R. at

¹ Of note, the confidentiality provision which Gant, and later the attorneys, used as a shield to refuse to disclose the purchase price from Orange Grove provided the following, in pertinent part:

SELLER, PURCHASER AND TITLE COMPANY AGREE NOT TO CAUSE ANY PUBLIC ANNOUNCEMENTS TO BE MADE OF THE EXECUTION OF THIS CONTRACT, AND FURTHER AGREE NOT TO DISCLOSE TO ANY PARTY, THE PURCHASE PRICE PAYABLE HEREUNDER OR THE TERMS HEREOF ... NOTWITHSTANDING ANYTHING TO THE CONTRARY CONTAINED HEREIN ... (ii) PURCHASER MAY DISCLOSE THIS CONTRACT AND THE TERMS THEREOF TO ITS ATTORNEYS, CONSULTANTS, AGENTS, REPRESENTATIVES, ENGINEERS, INSPECTORS, AND PROSPECTIVE AND ACTUAL TENANTS, LENDERS AND INVESTORS IN CONNECTION WITH THE ACQUISITION OF THE PROPERTY..."

486, 1373]. SOJ's interest would later be reduced to seven percent (7%). [R. at 1378, 2207-09]. Ultimately, following closing, SOJ abandoned its right to the seven percent (7%) but participated in the closing as both the closing attorneys <u>and</u> partners in the venture with its two clients.

Later, on November 10, 2004, Gant entered into a contract (the "November 10th Agreement") with Orange Grove, to purchase the Bernard Bayou Property.² [R. at 2138-50; R.E. at 41-53]. The price per acre in the November 10th Agreement was \$100,000.00. [R. at 2138; R.E. at 41]. Jordan, with Robert Schwartz ("Schwartz") also of SOJ, drafted, negotiated, and/or prepared the November 10th Agreement as attorneys for Gant. [R. at 625, 1335, 2499].

On November 12, 2004, Gant entered into a separate contract (the "November 12th Agreement") for the sale of the Bernard Bayou Property to an unnamed partnership entity to be formed at a later date, which Grand Legacy, Gant, or his successor-in-interest, and SOJ would own together. [R. at 2168-80; R.E. at 68-80]. The purchase price per acre in the November 12th Agreement was \$144,231.00. [R. at 2168; R.E. at 68]. This contract was one of the first instances in which the intent to form a limited partnership was documented, clearly distinguishing it from one at arms-length. [R. at 2168; R.E. at 68].

Jordan, on behalf of SOJ, drafted the November 12th Agreement as the attorney for both Gant and Grand Legacy, and presented the contract to Sanders. [R. at 1348]. When asked about the terms of the November 12th Agreement, Jordan told Sanders that it was "mirror contract" to the November 10th Agreement. [R. at 487, 519, 1369-70, 2538]. Jordan made this representation at a time when he was aware of the material provisions of the November 10th Agreement, including its purchase price and the terms of the confidentiality agreement, and when he was in an attorney-client relationship with both Gant and Grand Legacy. [R. at 1349].

² The reason Shivers was not a party to the November 10th Agreement was because he was out of the country at the time. [R. at 2016]. Although, had he been in the country, he would have authorized the contract and proceed as Gant & Shivers, LLC. [R. at 2016].

The November 12th Agreement was later amended to reflect that Gant & Shivers, LLC, rather than Gant, individually, was the seller of the property. [R. at 2185-86; R.E. at 83-84]. In fact, both Agreements were amended a number of times. [R. at 2152-66, 2181-86; R.E. at 55-67; 81-84]. On each occasion, Jordan and/or Schwartz represented Gant, Shivers, Gant & Shivers, LLC, Grand Legacy, and later GLMS. [R. at 2499-2500].

Relying on Gant's representations, as well as the legal and factual representations of Schwartz and Jordan, Grand Legacy agreed to form and fund the limited partnership GLMS, in which all parties, and their joint attorneys, would be partners. Grand Legacy, as the general partner of GLMS, agreed to close the purchase of the Bernard Bayou Property for GLMS. In order to close, Grand Legacy funded GLMS by investing \$5,000,000.00 cash, believing it necessary for GLMS to purchase the Property, and borrow and deliver to the closing \$9,653,617.26 to purchase the Property. [R. at 2545]. Prior to the closing and at the time of the investment by Grand Legacy, Gant & Shivers, LLC were limited partners in GLMS along with the closing attorneys. [R. at 480, 1084, 1102-03, 1338-39, 2537].

On April 15, 2005, Jordan conducted two closings at the SOJ office. The first was for Orange Grove selling the Bernard Bayou Property to Gant & Shivers, LLC. [R. at 2440-41; R.E. at 140-41]. The second closing was for Gant & Shivers, LLC selling the Bernard Bayou Property to GLMS. [R. at 2443-44; R.E. at 142-43]. During the closings and unbeknownst to the Appellants, Gant and Shivers, each acting individually and on behalf of each other and for Gant & Shivers, LLC, closed the purchase of the property by Gant & Shivers, LLC from Orange Grove for approximately \$10,110,00.00. [R. at 2440-41; R.E. at 140-41]. Immediately thereafter, Gant and Shivers, each acting individually and on behalf of each other and for Gant & Shivers, LLC, closed the sale of the same property from Gant & Shivers, LLC to GLMS for \$14,581,754.10. [R. at 2443-44; R.E. at 142-43]. Gant and Shivers thereby secured an immediate

profit of \$4,471,736.06, on top of the thirty percent 30% equity interest in GLMS by which they intended to profit in the future. [R. at 2027, 2030, 2358].

Appellants were never advised by *any* of the Appellees or their joint counsel that Gant & Shivers, LLC had profited by over \$4.4 million on April 15, 2005, in addition to receiving the thirty percent (30%) interest in the partnership or that Gant and Shivers, individually, each took distributions from Gant & Shivers, LLC of \$2.1 million following the closing. [R. at 2545-46; *see also* R. at 2358, 2360, 2362; R.E. at 149-51]. The deposition testimony of Jordan, Schwartz, Gant, and Shivers bears no revelation that Sanders was advised of the profit and Sanders testified that he did not know about the profit and believed that none was made. [R. at 2546]. It was not until the Fall of 2007 that Sanders learned from real estate agent Sherry Owen that the Appellees had profited by over \$4.4 million on the sale of the Property. [R. at 503].

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The standard of review for a grant of summary judgment is de novo. Lane v. Grand Casinos of Mississippi, Inc.-Gulfport, 708 So. 2d 1377, 1379 (Miss. 1998); Rolison v. City of Meridian, 691 So. 2d 440, 443 (Miss. 1997); Short v. Columbus Rubber and Gasket Co., Inc., 535 So. 2d 61, 63 (Miss. 1988). On appeal, the Court should apply the same standard that the trial court applied in determining whether summary judgment was appropriate. Cities of Oxford, Carthage, Louisville, Starkville and Tupelo v. Northeast Mississippi Elec. Power Ass'n, 704 So. 2d 59, 64 (Miss. 1997); Taylor Machine Works, Inc. v. Great American Surplus Lines Ins. Co., 635 So. 2d 1357, 1361 (Miss. 1994). "If any triable issues of fact exist, the lower court's decision to grant summary judgment will be reversed." Lane, 708 So. 2d at 1380.

This Court is no doubt familiar with Rule 56(c) of the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure and understands that it allows summary judgment only where there are no genuine issues of material fact such that the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. "[T]he evidence must be viewed in the light most favorable to the party against whom the motion has been made." *Green v. Allendale Planting Co.*, 954 So. 2d 1032, 1037 (Miss. 2007) (quoting *Price v. Purdue Pharma Co.*, 920 So. 2d 479, 483 (Miss. 2006)). "The moving party has the burden of demonstrating that no genuine issue of material fact(s) exists, and the non-moving party must be given the benefit of the doubt concerning the existence of a material fact." *Id.* (quoting *Howard v. City of Biloxi*, 943 So. 2d 751, 754 (Miss. Ct. App. 2006)).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

This case is not about the reformation of a real estate contract, nor is it about the single purchase and re-sale of 104 acres of land fronting on the Bernard Bayou in Harrison County, Mississippi. Appellees would like this Court to conclude this is nothing but an arms-length transaction in which property was sold via a single contract. The more focus they can place on the real estate contract, the less attention will be placed on what the trial court ignored—partners fraudulently and negligently breaching legal obligations of disclosure, fair dealing, and loyalty to one another and sufficient facts to present a *prima facie* case that a jury should have been allowed to consider.

The trial court erred in finding that no genuine issues of material fact exist in this case and by granting summary judgment where fraud is at issue. The Appellees breached numerous fiduciary duties that they owed to the Appellants in the formation of a partnership and questions of fact exist on these issues that the trial court did not consider. There was evidence the Appellees made fraudulent statements and blatant misrepresentations to the Appellants on which the Appellants relied in agreeing to form a partnership and provide all of the funding for the purchase of the Bernard Bayou Property. Questions of fraud are inappropriate for summary judgment, yet the trial court granted summary judgment in favor of the Appellees without even mentioning the fraud at issue in the Order.

Instead, the trial court focused only on the "merger clause" located in the November 12th Agreement and the April 15, 2005 Acknowledgement Agreement, which contained a statement regarding a difference in the purchase price. The Appellees convinced the trial court to erroneously narrow the issues and allow them to escape liability based on two ambiguous provisions in two documents, among a multitude of documents involved in this case. The trial court erred as a matter of law by failing to consider all of the relevant documents to this

transaction, including the agreements dated November 10, 2004 and November 12, 2004, the April 15, 2005 Acknowledgement Agreement, the GLMS Limited Partnership Agreement and its amendments, and the HUD-1 closing statements, among others.

Further, the breach of fiduciary duties, fraud, misrepresentation, and other claims are not grounded solely in November 12th Agreement and the April 15, 2005 Acknowledgement Agreement. Rather, these issues are grounded in the general partnership that existed prior to, during, and after the execution of the November 12th Agreement, and the funding and formation of the limited partnership in March of 2005, prior to closing the sale. The partnership was formed in October of 2004 when Gant took Sanders and Pankratz out on his boat to see the Bernard Bayou Property and they discussed the formation of a partnership, the funding of the partnership and its purchase of the Property, and the development of the Property. The partnership duties applied from the day of the agreement on the boat forward. The November 12th Agreement confirmed the existence of the partnership and the limited partnership was established on or about March 28, 2005 when the Limited Partnership Agreement was signed. There are abundant factual disputes centered around the breach of fiduciary duties owed by the Appellees to their partners, and the commission of fraud, misrepresentation, and breach of fiduciary duties by all of the Appellees in the consummating the ultimate funding of the limited partnership by Grand Legacy.

The "merger clause" and Acknowledgement Agreement do not avoid evidence of fraud, fraudulent inducement, misrepresentations, and omissions by the Appellees in relation to their business relationship with Grand Legacy, the formation of GLMS, and the method by which GLMS would be funded. It certainly does not merge statements, misrepresentations, or obligations among the partners occurring after the November 12 Agreement was signed. Grand Legacy had a right to expect, without putting it in writing, that its partners would not lie and

cheat in order to obtain \$4.4 million (in addition to a thirty percent (30%) interest in the partnership) via a fraudulent scheme of self-dealing and use those funds to line their personal bank accounts.

The trial court also erred in granting Shivers' Separate Motion for Summary Judgment because an individual member of a limited liability company *can* be held individually liable for his own acts or conduct. Shivers acted with knowledge of the fraudulent scheme and personally concealed material information from his partners, which he had an affirmative duty to disclose, in furtherance of the fraud and to personally obtain \$2.1 million dollars. Further, because fraud is involved, the court can pierce the corporate veil and hold Shivers personally liable even if he was acting only in his capacity as a member of the LLC. Again, the trial court erred in finding that no genuine issues of material fact exist as to Shivers and by granting summary judgment where fraud is at issue.

ARGUMENT

I. The trial court erred by granting summary judgment for the Appellees and finding that no genuine issues of material fact exist as to the fiduciary duties that the Appellees owed to the Appellants as partners, which are not excused by obscure statements in the November 12th Agreement and the Acknowledgement Agreement.

Summary judgment should be denied "if any triable issues of fact exist." Lane, 708 So. 2d at 1380 (emphasis added). This case is fraught with "genuine issues of material fact" surrounding the fraud by the Appellees, the fiduciary duties that the Appellees owed to the Appellants, and the Appellees' breach of those duties. The trial court erred by granting summary judgment for the Appellees and denying the Appellants a jury trial as to these questions of fact.

A. Genuine issues of material fact exist as to the Appellees' breach of the fiduciary duties that they owed to the Appellants as partners.

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