IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI CASE NO. 2010-CA-00446

GRAND LEGACY, LLP and GRAND LEGACY OF MISSISSIPPI, LP

APPELLANTS

VS.

CHARLES M. GANT, Individually; STEPHEN L. SHIVERS, SR., Individually; and GANT & SHIVERS, LLC

APPELLEES

BRIEF OF APPELLEES

Appealed from the Circuit Court of Harrison County, Mississippi Cause No. A2401-08-117

ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

DONALD C. DORNAN, JR. (MS BAR NO JOHN M. HERKE (MS Bar No Spyridon, Palermo & Dornan, L.L.C. P.O. Box 154 Biloxi, MS 39533 228-374-2013 228-374-2250 - Fax

TIM C. HOLLEMAN, ESQ. (MS BAR NO Boyce Holleman & Associates P.O. Drawer 1030 Gulfport, MS 39502

Attorneys for Appellees

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Stripped of the smoke and mirrors suffusing their brief to this Court, Appellants make only two essential arguments: First, Appellants contend that Charles Gant verbally told Scott Sanders he would sell the Bayou Bernard property to Appellants for the same price for which he bought it from Orange Grove Utilities and/or that Gant was not going to make a profit on the sale (i.e. there was no "difference in the initial Purchase Price paid by Gant & Shivers, LLC, and the purchase price paid for by Grand Legacy of Mississippi, LP"). Second, Appellants claim that Gant, Shivers and/or Gant & Shivers, LLC failed to disclose to Appellants the fact that they did make a profit on the sale of the Bernard Bayou property. Both arguments are plainly refuted by documentary evidence in the record signed by the Appellants' representative, and the trial court correctly found that the undisputed material facts demanded that summary judgment be granted in favor of these Appellees. Specifically, three <u>undisputed</u> material facts cannot be ignored, and this Court should find (as did the trial court) that these undisputed material facts are dispositive of this appeal. See, e. g., Davis v. Paepke, 3 So.3d 131 (Miss. App. 2009).

First, at the closing for the property in question, Appellants <u>undisputedly signed</u> an "Acknowledgment Agreement" that specifically disclosed that there was a "difference in the initial Purchase Price paid by" Appellee, Gant & Shivers, LLC, and "the purchase price paid for by" Appellant, Grand Legacy of Mississippi, LP" and that difference was to be disbursed to Appellee, Gant & Shivers, LLC. Thus, Appellants' argument that they "did not know" there was to be a difference in the purchase prices is irrelevant because, under a long line of clear and consistent Mississippi law, Appellants should have known,

and were legally charged with knowledge of, the contents of the Acknowledgment Agreement that Sanders signed but did not read. <u>See Davis v. Paepke</u>, 3 So.3d 131 (Miss. App. 2009).

Second, it is <u>undisputed that Charles Gant disclosed to Scott Sanders</u> from the outset that <u>he personally had an option to buy the Bernard Bayou property</u> from Orange Grove Utilities ("OGU"). Nevertheless, Appellants ask the Court to conclude that just because the parties discussed the possible formation of a limited partnership to develop the property in the future, Gant was somehow obligated to "donate" the deal he had already negotiated with OGU to a "to be formed" partnership that might never come into being. Naturally, Appellants do not cite the Court to any case law in support of such a far-fetched notion. Instead, Appellants contend that a plethora of fiduciary duties arose between and among the parties long before any partnership ever existed. This argument is fashioned from whole cloth and illustrates the lengths to which Appellants ask this Court to stretch in seeking to overturn the trial court's proper grant of summary judgment.

Moreover, even assuming a partnership had come into being during the parties' negotiations, nothing in the law of partnerships precludes a partner from making a profit in dealing with the partnership. Appellants clearly and unabashedly misstate the law in claiming otherwise. Additionally, the Acknowledgment Agreement unequivocally disclosed that there was a "difference in the initial Purchase Price paid by Gant & Shivers, LLC, and the purchase price paid for by Grand Legacy of Mississippi, LP" and that "difference" was being "disbursed to Gant & Shivers, LLC". It could not have been clearer

and no written contract would ever be safe if the Appellants' position were sustained. Finally, even assuming the existence of a partnership, the Statute of Frauds still bars any alleged agreements not contained in the_written agreement between the parties when transferring real property to or between partners.

Third, it is <u>undisputed that Appellants paid a fair price</u> for the property in question. When Sanders was-specifically asked whether the price Appellants actually paid for the property was a fair one, he testified -- under oath -- that it was.⁴² Accordingly, Appellants can hardly complain that they were taken advantage of when they agree that they paid a fair price for the Bernard Bayou property. Therefore, the Appellees submit that the Appellants cannot meet their burden of proof for overturning the trial court's grant of summary judgment, and the trial court should be affirmed.

^{42 &}lt;u>See</u> Record at 549; Deposition of J. Scott Sanders at p. 397 line 18 to p. 398 line 7. Notably, the appraisal obtained for sale of the Bernard Bayou property from Gant to Grand Legacy of Mississippi, LP established an appraisal price for the property of \$17.3 million - over \$2 million more than the sale price. <u>See</u> Record at 2727.

ARGUMENT

- 1. Whether a claim for an alleged oral misrepresentation may be maintained where the claiming party signed but failed to read documents which plainly disclosed the alleged fact claimed to be misrepresented therefore the trial court correctly applied long-standing Mississippi precedent in finding that Appellants were legally charged with knowledge that Appellees made a profit from the sale of the Bernard Bayou property when Appellants signed the Acknowledgment Agreement stating exactly such.
 - A. <u>Mississippi law charges Appellants with knowledge of the contents of the Acknowledgment Agreement</u>

Appellants first claim that they did not know the Appellees would be making a profit from the sale of the Bernard Bayou property. However, at the closing for the sale of the Bernard Bayou property from Gant & Shivers, LLC to the Appellants, J. Scott Sanders (the managing partner for Appellant Grand Legacy, LLP⁴⁴) signed an Acknowledgment Agreement which stated, in pertinent part:

WHEREAS, Grand Legacy, LLP, General Partner, and Gant & Shivers, LLC, limited Partner of Grand Legacy of Mississippi, LP, acknowledge that . . . the *difference* in the initial Purchase Price paid by Gant & Shivers, LLC, and the purchase price paid for by Grand Legacy of Mississippi, LP, shall be disbursed to Gant & Shivers, LLC.⁴⁵

^{43 &}lt;u>See</u> Appellants' brief at 7 (stating that "Sanders testified that he **did not know** about the profit and believed that none was made") (emphasis added).

⁴⁴ Also of note is the fact that Grand Legacy, LLP is the general partner of Appellant Grand Legacy of Mississippi, LP. Thus, when Sanders signed the Acknowledgment Agreement, he did so on behalf of both Appellants.

⁴⁵ See Record at 2211 - 2213; Acknowledgment Agreement, at page 2.

Sanders signed the Acknowledgment Agreement on behalf of the Appellants,⁴⁶ but admittedly did not read it.⁴⁷ Sanders admitted if he had read the Acknowledgment Agreement he would have seen there was a difference in the purchase prices. Dr. Pankratz also admitted that anyone reading the Acknowledgment Agreement would know there was a difference in the purchase prices.⁴⁸ Appellants own expert likewise admitted such.⁴⁹

Faced with the preclusive effect of the Acknowledgment Agreement signed by Sanders, Appellants attempt to flip the Agreement on its head and make the preposterous claim that "[t]he existence of the Acknowledgment Agreement is proof of fraudulent concealment by the Appellees." It would be novel indeed for purported defrauders to go to all the trouble of preparing an entirely separate document detailing what they intended to "hide" from their supposed victim, and then present it to him and have him sign it, on the chance the "victim" would not take the time to read it and see what it said. What is undisputed here, however, is that Appellants were, in fact, provided the Acknowledgment Agreement, given time to read it, and would have seen the reference to a difference in the sales prices had they simply taken the time and effort to read the agreement before signing:

⁴⁶ See Record at 2213; Acknowledgment Agreement, at page 3.

⁴⁷ See Record at 500; Deposition of J. Scott Sanders, page 211 lines 14 to 24.

⁴⁸ See Record at 2609; Deposition of Duane Pankratz, page 159:9-17.

⁴⁹ See Record at 1921; Deposition of K.F. Boackle page 148:1-12.

⁵⁰ Appellants' brief at 25.

- Q. Mr. Sanders, if you believe you were paying the same price that Gant & Shivers were paying Orange Grove Utilities when you read and signed that document would that sentence not have raised a flag-to-you?
- A. I did not read the document at closing. The document was handed to me in a stack of other documents and I did not read this document.⁵¹
- Q. If you had wanted to or chosen to you could have read all the documents in that closing package, couldn't you?
- A. Which closing package?
- Q. The stack of documents that you referred to that you signed on April 15, 2005?
- A. I could have.
- Q. There is no doubt is there that [attorney] Jay Jordan would have given you all the time you needed to review those documents?
- A. That's correct. 52
- Q. But if you had read this document on April 15th you would have seen a reference to a difference in the purchase price paid by Gant & Shivers and the purchase price paid by Grand Legacy of Mississippi, wouldn't you?
- A. I would have.⁵³

Under long-standing Mississippi law, Sanders is presumed to have read and understood each of the documents that he signed, and Appellants cannot now be heard to complain

⁵¹ Record at 500; Deposition of J. Scott Sanders, at page 211:14 - 24.

⁵² Record at 551; Deposition of J. Scott Sanders, at page 404:19 - 405:6.

⁵³ Record at 552; Deposition of J. Scott Sanders, at page 409:25 - 410:6.

that they did not know the contents of the documents. <u>Johnston v. Palmer</u>, 963 So.2d 586, 596 (Miss. App. 2007); <u>Davis v. Paepke</u>, 3 So.3d 131, 139 (Miss. App. 2009).

Consequently, the trial court properly applied this Court's recent decision in <u>Davis v. Paepke</u>, 3 So.3d 131 (Miss. App. 2009) to the Appellants' claim. In <u>Paepke</u>, the plaintiff filed suit seeking his share of the profit from a real estate transaction. Paepke had an option to purchase real property in Chickasaw County, but lacked the finances to buy the property outright. <u>See id</u>. at 133. He struck a deal with the defendant, Davis, by which Davis would buy the property and split the profit when the land was re-sold. <u>See id</u>. Davis subsequently sold the land himself, but refused to split the profits with Paepke, claiming the deal was contingent on Paepke finding a buyer. <u>Id</u>. at 134. When Paepke filed suit for his share of the profits, Davis filed a counterclaim alleging that Paepke fraudulently induced him to buy the property in the first place by falsely telling Davis he had a buyer already in place. <u>See id</u>. at 138. Similar to what Sanders and Pankratz allege in the present case, Davis contended that he "would not have purchased the property had he known that Paepke did not have a secured buyer in place to purchase the land." ⁵⁴ Id.

The Court of Appeals noted that the written Paepke-Davis agreement contained no indication that a secured buyer was in place. <u>See id</u>. at 139. Notably, the <u>Paepke</u> court found that:

[i]f it was truly Davis's understanding that a secured buyer was in place, Davis could have seen from a plain reading of

⁵⁴ Similarly, Plaintiffs contend they "would not have purchased the subject property" if the purchase prices were not identical. <u>See</u> Record at 50 - 51, First Amended Complaint, page 14, paragraph 64.

the contract that the terms of the document he signed contradict this understanding."

<u>Id</u>. at 139. As the trial court in this case correctly found, the same analysis applies here. If Sanders truly believed that the purchase price Gant was to receive would be the same as the price Gant paid to acquire the property, Sanders "could have seen from a plain reading of the [Acknowledgment Agreement] that the terms of the document he signed contradict this understanding." Moreover, just as the Court of Appeals found in <u>Paepke</u>, the trial court in this case rightly noted that "given Sanders's extensive experience in buying and selling real estate, if Sanders was relying on Gant's oral representations in his decision to enter into a \$15 million contract, it seems as though Sanders would have made sure that the contract contained a provision referencing such." ⁵⁵

Further, in finding Davis's fraudulent inducement claim to be without merit, the Court of Appeals specifically held that "it is well established that 'a person is under an obligation to read a contract before signing it, and will not as a general rule be heard to complain of an oral misrepresentation the error of which would-have been disclosed by reading the contract." <u>Id</u>. Importantly, the holding in <u>Paepke</u> is in line with both cases from other jurisdictions and with hornbook law on the subject. In particular, the treatise AMERICAN JURISPRUDENCE states that:

Fraudulent inducement is not available as a defense when one had the opportunity to read the contract and by doing so could have discovered the misrepresentation. See also Starr ex rel. Estate of Sampson v. Georgeson Shareholder, Inc., 412 F.3d 103 (2nd Cir. 2005); Exxon-Mobil v. Ford, 187 S.W.3d 154

⁵⁵ See Record at 3073; Trial Court Judgment; see also Paepke, 3 So.3d at 139.

(Ct. App. Tex. 2006); <u>King Ind., Inc. v. Worlco Data Systems</u>, Inc., 736 F.Supp. 114 (E.D. Va. 1989).

17A Am. Jur. 2D Contracts § 214 (emphasis added).

Thus, Appellants cannot escape the preclusive effect of either the Agreement for Purchase and Sale which Sanders claims he merely "skimmed," which does not contain any provision that Gant was not making a "profit" or that there was no "difference in the initial Purchase Price paid by Gant & Shivers, LLC, and the purchase price paid for by Grand Legacy of Mississippi, LP". And more importantly, the Acknowledgment Agreement Sanders signed but did not read contains a very clear provision that there was a "difference in the initial Purchase Price paid by Gant & Shivers, LLC, and the purchase price paid for by Grand Legacy of Mississippi, LP" and the "difference was being "disbursed to Gant & Shivers, LLC". Indeed, "'[t]o permit a party . . . to admit that he signed [a contract or other document] but to deny that it expresses the agreement he made or to allow him to admit that he signed it but did not read it or know its stipulations would absolutely destroy the value of all contracts." Johnston, 963 So. 2d at 596 (quoting Alliance Trust Co. v. Armstrong, 186 So. 633, 635 (1939)) (emphasis added); see also Busching v. Griffin, 542 So.2d 860, 865 (Miss. 1989). This is exactly what the Appellants seek here. Allowing Appellants' claims, however, would completely destroy the purpose of putting agreements in writing. Accordingly, the trial court's summary judgment should be affirmed.

B. Appellants' "fiduciary duty" argument does not save them

Perhaps realizing the absurdity of claiming the Appellees "actively concealed" their profit by giving Appellants—a—specific document acknowledging that profit,

Appellants ask this Court to conclude that just because the parties discussed the possibility of forming a limited partnership, a plethora of fiduciary duties arose long before any partnership came into existence. This argument is likewise meritless. The Court will note that, at no point in their lengthy construction of how this supposed "partnership" came into being do Appellants ever actually point the Court to who the supposed "partners" were at any given time. The reason is simple. To do so would expose the flaw in their argument: at any given time between November 2004 and April 2005, the purported "partners" in the "partnership" would have been in flux, even by Appellants' account. And, without a definite set of partners, there can be no "partnership." Thus, Appellants' claim that a general partnership was formed at common law⁵⁶ holds even less water than their claim that Appellants did not know there was a difference in the purchase price despite documents signed by them specifically stating the opposite.

Appellants claim that a supposed partnership "formed" when Gant shook hands with Sanders on Gant's boat and "continued until the filing of the Certificate of Limited partnership." However, the common law rule directly refutes Appellants' argument. It is axiomatic that at common law "the addition of a partner to, or the removal of a partner from, a partnership dissolves the partnership that existed prior to the addition or removal." In re Taylor & Associates, L.P., 249 B.R. 448 (E.D.Tenn. 1998); see also Weeks v. McMillan, 353 S.E.2d 289 (S.C.App. 1987); 60 Am. Jur. 2D Partnership Sections 177

⁵⁶ See Appellants' brief at 14.

⁵⁷ Appellants' brief at 14.

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